UNCLASSIFIED

AD NUMBER

ADB000465

NEW LIMITATION CHANGE

TO

Approved for public release, distribution unlimited

FROM

Distribution authorized to U.S. Gov't. agencies only; Test and Evaluation; 04 SEP 1974. Other requests shall be referred to Naval Weapons Center, China Lake, CA 93555.

AUTHORITY

USNWC ltr dtd 14 May 1975

THIS PAGE IS UNCLASSIFIED

THIS REPORT HAS BEEN DELIMITED AND CLEARED FOR PUBLIC RELEASE UNDER DOD DIRECTIVE 5200.20 AND NO RESTRICTIONS ARE IMPOSED UPON ITS USE AND DISCLOSURE. .

DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT A

APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELEFSE; Distribution unlimited,

_

ないこうい

1.

Alternative Approaches to Modeling Visual Target Acquisition

by

Charles P. Greening Rockwell International for the Weapons Development Department

SEPTEMBER 1974

Distribution limited to U.S. Government agencies only, test and evaluation, 4 September 1974. Other requests for this document must be referred to the Navai Weapons Center.



Naval Weapons Center

AN ACTIVITY OF THE NAVAL MATERIAL COMMAND R. G. Freeman, III, RAdm., USN G. L. Hollingsworth

FOREWORD

This technical report documents the work conducted from June to August 1974 under Naval Weapons Center Contract N00123-74-C-0236. The work is part of a joint services program on air-to-ground target acquisition.

The Joint Technical Coordinating Group for Munitions Effectiveness has established a Target Acquisition Working Group (TAWG) under the Joint Munitions Effectiveness Manual/Air-to-Surface Division. Current TAWG tasks include the description and effectiveness estimation of target markers, research on target acquisition by flarelight, summary and synthesis of existing target acquisition field test data, and the description and evaluation of mathematical models of the visual target acquisition process. This is the tenth report published to date under TAWG sponsorship.

The report was reviewed for technical accuracy by Ronald A. Erickson (TAWG Chairman), Dr. H. H. Bailey (The Rand Corporation), and MAJ Robert Hilgendorf (Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, TAWG Co-Chairman). It was prepared by the Autonetics Division of Rockwell International and is released at the working level for information only.

| Released by | Under authority of |
|-----------------------------|--------------------------------|
| GEORGE F. CLEARY, Head | M. M. ROGERS, Head |
| Technical Services Division | Weapons Development Department |
| 4 September 1974 | |

NWC Technical Publication 5698

| Published by | Weapons Development Department |
|----------------|--------------------------------|
| Manuscript | |
| Collation | |
| First printing | |

| BRAAPS | | READ INSTRUCTIONS |
|--|---|---|
| REPORT DOCUME | INTATION PAGE | BEFORE COMPLETING FORM |
| REPORT NUMBER | 2. GOVT ACCESSION NO. | 3. RECIPIENT'S CATALOG NUMBER |
| NWC TP 5698 | | |
| . TITLE (and Subtitle) | | 5. TYPE OF REPORT & PERIOD COVERED |
| Alternative Approaches to M | Iodeling Visual | June – August 1974 |
| Target Acquisition | - | |
| • | | 6. PERFORMING ORS. REPORT NUMBER |
| · AUTHOR(s) | | 8. CONTRACT OR GRANT NUMBER(*) |
| Charles P. Greening | | |
| Chances I. Crooning | | N00123-74-C-0236 |
| PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME | AND ADDRESS | 10. PROGRAM ELEMENT, PROJECT, TASK |
| Rockwell International | | AREA & WORK UNIT NUMBERS |
| Autonetics Division | | ARAB/AIF |
| Anaheim, Calif. | | |
| 1. CONTROLLING OFFICE NAME AND A | DDRESS | 12. REPORT DATE |
| Naval Weapons Center | | September 1974 |
| China Lake California 9355 | 5 | 13. NUMBER OF PAGES |
| china Lako, cantonna 7055 | | 28 |
| 4 MONITORING AGENCY NAME & ADDE | RESS(If different from Controlling Office) | 15. SECURITY CLASS, (of this report) |
| | | |
| | | UNCLASSIFIED |
| | | 15a. DECLASSIFICATION/DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE |
| 4 September 1974. Other the Naval Weapons Center. | requests for this document mu | est and evaluation: ist be referred to |
| 4 September 1974. Other in the Naval Weapons Center. 7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the elignment of the eli | betrect entered in Block 20, 11 different fro | est and evaluation: list be referred to m Report) |
| 4 September 1974. Other in the Naval Weapons Center. 7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the elementation statement (of the elementation statement of the elementation of the elementation statement of the elementation statementation st | In necessary and identify by block number) | est and evaluation: ist be referred to m Report) |

and the spectra of the second of

LUURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE(When Data Entered)

 (U) Alternative Approaches to Modeling Visual Target Acquisition, by Charles P. Greening, Autonetics Division, Rockwell International.
 China Lake, Calif., Naval Weapons Center, September 1974. 28 pp. (NWC TP 5698, publication UNCLASSIFIED.)

(U) This report develops a framework which structures the variety of modeling approaches that might be taken in quantifying visual target acquisition. Significant omissions in current modeling efforts are identified. Past modeling approaches are described, including those emphasizing cognitive and subjective approaches. It is concluded that mathematical modeling is so dependent upon (1) the objectives of the user, (2) the class of situation being modeled, and (3) the methodological orientation of the modeler, that a single model cannot meet all requirements. This report is particularly useful to those engaged in modeling who desire an overview of modeling techniques.

UNCLASSIFIED SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE(When Date Entered)

E.

والمنافعة والمعادية أفالم المعادية والمعادية ومنافعتها والمعادية والمعادية والمعادية والمعادية والمعادية والمعاد

1.1

CONTENTS

| Introduction |
|---|
| Sources of Alternative Approaches |
| Classes of Events |
| Objectives of User |
| Philosophical Orientation |
| Psychological Orientation |
| Classification of Target Acquisition Model Approaches |
| Dimensions |
| Clustering |
| Missing Models |
| Possible Alternative Approaches |
| An Articulated Model |
| A Collection of Models |
| Conclusions |

1

.

INTRODUCTION

Autonetics has been under contract to study visual target acquisition modeling and prediction since 1972. Among the tasks performed have been surveys of existing target acquisition models^{1,2} and an analysis of elements not r_presented (or inappropriately represented) in existing models.³

One of the results of the work described above has been a growing conviction that the approaches to target acquisition modeling implied by available descriptive materials represented only a portion of the spectrum of feasible approaches to the problem. Specifically, the optical properties of the search and acquisition process have characteristically been treated in considerable detail, while cognitive elements in the process (assuming they are significant) have been treated sketchily, if at all. The evidence for this conviction is discussed in detail in an earlier report.³

The relationships between present-day models and their historical antecedents have been discussed and diagrammed in an earlier report.¹ Much of the modeling approach evident in today's models can be traced to the activities of the U.S. Navy Operations Effectiveness Group, under Koopman, during World War II.⁴ As will be seen later in this report, the strong Operations Research orientation of the Koopman work has to a considerable extent inhibited the exploration of alternative philosophies in model development.

Other disciplines which might have relevance to target acquisition have also been involved in modeling and prediction since World War II. They include detection theory, decision theory, neuro-psychological investigation, optical image processing, and artificial intelligence,

- Naval Weapons Center "Target Acquisition Model Evaluation Final Summary Report" by C. P. Greening. China Lake, Calif., NWC, June 1973 (NWC TP 5536, publication UNCLASSIFIED).
- ² - -. Target Acquisition Model Evaluation: Part 2. A Review of British Target Acquisition Models, by C. P. Greening, Autonetics Division, Rockwell International. China Lake, Calif., NWC, August 1974. (NWC TP 5536, Part 2.)
- ³ - -. Modeling Visual Target Acquisition: Inclusion of Certain Psychological Variables, by C. P. Greening, Autonetics Division, Rockwell International. China Lake, Calif., NWC, August 1974. (NWC TP 5690.)
- ⁴ Chief of Naval Operations, Operations Effectiveness Group. "Search and Screening" by B. O. Koopman. Washington, D. C., OEG, 1946 (OEG Report No. 56, published as CONFIDENTIAL, now UNCLASSIFIED).

among others. While it is not obvious which, if any, of these disciplines might improve target acquisition prediction, they cannot all be rejected out of hand.

The purpose of this report is to erect a framework which will give some structure to the variety of modeling approaches which might be taken, and to identify tentatively the more significant omissions. To this end, a search has been made for sources of modeling approaches which seem to be most relevant. These include, but are not limited to, the cognitive and subjective emphasis suggested in the contract statement of effort.⁵

⁵ Contract N00123-74-C-0236, between Naval Regional Procurement Office, Los Angeles, and Autonetics Division, Rockwell International, Anaheim, Calif. 26 July 1973

SOURCES OF ALTERNATIVE APPROACHES

Alternative approaches to modeling target acquisition might arise for a number of quite distinct reasons. They include different classes of search and acquisition events to be modeled, different objectives of the user and different philosophical orientations of the model developer, in addition to the possibly different psychological representations of the acquisition process envisioned in the contract work statement. Each of the above-listed orientations is explored briefly in this section.

CLASSES OF EVENTS

The events to be represented in a target acquisition model vary with both the type of mission and the stage of the mission. An analysis of operator tasks was made during an Autonetics study performed under an Air Force contract. The tasks shown in Table 1 are adapted from that study report.⁶

It is evident from an inspection of the tabulated tasks that different classes of search and acquisition behavior are involved. The detect/recognize/identify sequence upon which several existing models are based appears to be suitable for only limited cases.

Possible alternative modeling approaches, suggested by Table 1 and the related studies, include:

- A contingent sequence of accept/reject decisions, based upon information received in each glimpse of the terrain. The glimpses could be viewed as inquiries, each having an associated cost in terms of time.
- 2. A variable level of confidence in the identity of a locale being viewed. Again, each glimpse has an effect on the confidence level, and a cost.

⁶ Air Force Avionics Laboratory. "Multi-Sensor Operator Training -Phase I. Analysis of Operator Tasks and Target Recognition Skills" by O. K. Hansen, J. M. Humes and R. E. Offenstein. Wright-Patterson AFB, Ohio, March 1970 (AFAL-TR-70-4, publication UNCLASSIFIED).

| Search Mode & Phase | Function | | Behavior | Necessary Model Characteristics |
|--------------------------|---|----------|--|--|
| A. AREA RECON. | | | | |
| Al. Initíate | Identify area | a. | Observe terrain features | Terrain features as "targets" (Indefinite boundaries; com- plex textures; indirect cues) |
| | | ь. | Compare with briefing data | Briefing quality ½ availabil- ity |
| | | c. | Accept/reject identity of feature | Decision function 'Variable criteria; crrors & correc- tions; sequential dependen- cies.) |
| A2. Search | Look for objects of military interest | a. b. | Scan area for targets Examine "interesting" locations. | Scan pattern (Sensitive to search task, flight var!- ables). "Detection" function (sensi- tive to expected targets, clutter, clues, off-axis acuity) |
| A3. Acquire | Establish iden- tity of a target object. | a. | Observe features of object. | Recognition function (Sensi- tive to target size, Jhape, etc.). |
| | | ь. | Compare with briefing data | See Aid |
| | | e. | Accept/reject identity | See Alc |
| B. ROUTE RECON. | | | | |
| Bl. Initiate | Identify area | See | Ala, b, c | See Ala, b, c |
| B2. Search | Look on/near route for vehicles | 8. | Scan along route | Scan pattern (Adapted to Route Recon: follows route; stays ahead of acft; may be off flight axis). |
| | | ъ. | Examine vehicle- related objects. | "Detection" function (Sensi- tive to vehicles and vehicle related phenomena) |
| B3. Acquire | Establish identity of a vehicle | See | АЗа, b, с | See A3a, b, c |
| C. FIXED/POINT TARGET | | | | |
| Cl. Initiate | Identify IP | See | Ala, b, c | See Ala, b, c |
| C2. Search | Look for target area | а. | Estimate range & bearing to designated target location. | Scan pattern (Sensitive to range & bearing error scanned area fixed or ground). |
| | | ь. | Look for briefed pattern. | "Detection" function (Sensi- tive to briefing quality, non-target clues). |
| C3. Acquire | Establish identity of designated point/target | a. | Observe terrain features in suspect area. | Recognition function (Sensi- tive to <u>clue</u> characteristics) |
| | | ъ. | Compare with briefing data. | See Alb |
| <u></u> | | c. | Accept/reject identity. | Decision function (Capable of decision based on non- target clues). |

Table 1. Search Behavior Analysis

OBJECTIVES OF USER

Those who attempt to represent target acquisition by a mathematical model are undoubtedly moved by a variety of motives. The characteristics of a desirable model may well be different for users with different objectives. A few alternatives are discussed briefly below.

Practical Prediction

The planning of reconnaissance or attack missions involves prediction of target or landmark acquisition, as a function of selectable conditions (e.g., time of day, flight altitude) and uncontrollable factors (e.g., target and background characteristics).

The "ideal model" for practical prediction work might well be one with a minimum of input quantities and a minimum of computation, and with outputs in a form which provide directly usable estimates and which indicate those controllable factors most powerful in their influence on the output.

Not all prediction models necessarily aim at the same sort of prediction. It may be desirable to make a statistical prediction over a class of missions, or the best estimate for a single encounter. Probability as a function of range may or may not be needed.

Scientific Understanding

Among the groups building models of target acquisition are some whose objective appears to be to attain a more thorough understanding of the target acquisition process. While the long-range objective is undoubtedly the prediction of performance, the way to that objective is seen as lying in the area of systematic investigation of the process.

The "ideal model" for increased understanding of the target acquisition process can be quite different from a more immediately practical one, as described above. Here, efficiency and simplicity are not necessary (though perhaps desirable). The necessary characteristics are more likely to be completeness in terms of input functions, explicitness of effects of variables, and outputs with diagnostic power.

One of the classical criteria for the evaluation of theoretical constructs is fruitfulness in suggesting testable hypotheses. Insofar as target acquisition models development can be viewed as a scientific endeavor, this might also be a useful criterion.

Use in Larger Models

Several of the target acquisition models reviewed during previous phases of this study have been parts of a larger model. A striking example is the Stanford Research Institute CRESS/SCREEN series. The overall model involves an engagement, with several hundred objects (vehicles, men, weapons) in specified locations, and a helicopter flying across the engagement area. For such an application, the primary

criteria for a visual search model arise from its interface with the rest of the model. Thus the visual search portion can be viewed as a symbolic "black box" which ruts out binary answers to questions such as "did this helicopter pilot detect that tank on a particular leg of his flight." Such outputs as "misidentification" are computed, not because the model builders know what produces that outcome, but because the overall model requires the quantity.

PHILOSOPHICAL ORIENTATION

There is little evidence, in the documentation of the target acquisition models so far reviewed, of an <u>a priori</u> philosophical orientation guiding the model development. Nonetheless, substantial differences do exist, implicitly, in those models. It seems appropriate to examine, as well as can be done by inspection of the finished products, the orientation of the authors, and to see whether still other philosophies exist, leading to significantly different model formulations.

Operations Research Orientation

Most of the models currently in use can be traced, at least in part, to the work of the Navy Operations Effectiveness Group or the Planning Research Corporation, both of which were operations research groups.⁷

The hallmark of an OR approach to modeling is the early selection of a fairly simple mathematical expression, based generally upon one or two sets of data. Subsequent embellishment of the model often proceeds as though the mathematical expression were, somehow, the fundamental "truth" about the phenomenon being modeled.

The implications of this approach to prediction are described at some length in a recent article on forecasting.⁸ It is pointed out that the approach is most appropriate in those situations in which the basic laws behind the phenomenon are simple and well understood, as the laws of gravity are. Advantages of the approach, in suitably simple situations, are that it leads to rather simple models, and permits prediction over a wide range of conditions. These "advantages" are illusory, however, in situations in which the assumptions are not met.

- ⁷ NWC TP 5536 (See Footnote 1)
- ⁸ Mitroff, I. I., and M. Turoff "Technology Forecasting and Assessments - the Whys Behind the Hows" in <u>IEEE Spectrum</u>, Vol 10, No. 3, March 1973

8

In visual target acquisition, the OR approach appears to have led the modeling work in a particular direction - toward laboratory data on visual performance with simple stimuli. Those are the data on which the model formulations are based, and the models are primarily sensitive to the usual independent variables in such laboratory work - e.g., luminance, contrast and size. Given the initial orientation, this is a highly rational course of action, for nowhere else in the search/ acquisition behavior spectrum will performance data be found which are as lawful as, say, the Tiffany data collected by Blackwell and associates.

Empirical Orientation

The empirical outlook is in some ways directly opposed to the OR or analytic approach discussed above. Here the assumption is that "truth" lies in the data. If an analytical expression is used, it is conditional upon its correct representation of the data; hence, new data may force change or abandonment of a formula. In extreme cases, the "model" can become simply a large look-up table.

As is usually the case, the apparently simple "pure empirical" approach becomes more complex upon closer inspection. It may be simple in a case in which causes and effects are simple, evident, and separable (for example, measuring the length of a metal rod as a function of temperature). In more complex situations, however, variables cannot be separated, or even described. Furthermore, assumptions must be made about the behavior of the variable between data points, since a finite set must suffice. Thus there may well be implicit, unrecognized assumptions about analytical form, even in a "pure empirical" look-up table.

Advantages of an empirical approach are the high validity of the model and its sensitivity to new data. Disadvantages are the inability to extrapolate beyond the limits of the input data, the cumbersome nature of the tables/formulations in complex, multi-variate situations, and the lack of insight into the dynamics and interactions characteristic of the system.

In target acquisition modeling, the most nearly empirical approaches are those of Franklin and Whittenberg⁹ and the "minimal model" set forth in an earlier report in this series. Both models are based primarily upon field data, rather than the more orderly laboratory detection data. In both cases, the empirical approach was, in some measure,

⁹ Human Sciences Research, Inc. "Research on Visual Target Detection-Part I - Development of an Air-to-Ground Detection/Identification Model" by M.E. Franklin & J.A. Whittenberg. McLean, Va., HSR, June 1965 (HSR-RR-65/4-Dt).

defeated by the richness and variety of the input data. No two field trials ever differ in just one simple variable. Hence, field test results take the form of a complex, interactive, disorderly array of independent and semi-dependent variables, with a certain amount of grouping to provide statistical stability in the performance measures. Such an array is useless in raw form, since there is no way to enter it with a new set of values. Hence, the modeler is forced to impose simplifying "orderliness" on the data, in the form of crudely fitted analytical expressions, or statistical simplifications such as regression equations. These simplifying expressions then take on some of the character of the analytical forms described earlier, with the accompanying shortcomings.

Synthetic Orientations

Mitroff and Turoff, in an article cited above (see footnote 8), distinguish between "Kantian" and "Hegelian" forms of rapprochement between the two simpler philosophies (i.e., analytic and empirical). The two approaches differ primarily in the amount of conflict involved; both agree in the assumption that the "truth" in an investigation lies in a synthesis between the formal statement (analytical) and the data (empirical).

The synthetic approach seems to be best suited to complex, illdefined problem areas. At best, the early data provide a basis for analytical forms as tentative models; the analytical form points to areas in which new data are needed; the process is essentially endless.

In practice, because of limited resources and shifting goals, the synthetic process has not generally been applied at length in target acquisition modeling. The closest approach appears to have been in the British work, started at the Royal Aircraft Establishment and carried on in the Defense Operations Analysis Establishment and the British Aircraft Corporation.¹⁰ There a ten-year program of theoretical investigation, anchored at frequent intervals to field and simulator data, has been in progress.

Even in the extensive British work, certain supposed advantages of the synthetic approach do not seem to have been achieved. It appears, for example, that there was an early and apparently unshakable commitment to a randomly-searching visual lobe mechanism, because this feature has persisted even when data forced considerable patching and modifying. More significantly, the models have dealt almost exclusively with the optical problem (as have all the models), by-passing the substantial cognitive elements which can be supported by other data.

10 NWC TP 5536, Part 2 (see Footnote 2).

Pragmatic Approach

The main feature of this approach, as distinct from the synthetic approach, lies in a recognition of the tendency to shape inquiries by goals and objectives. Thus, an investigator, to some extent, finds only what he is looking for unless forced to consider other viewpoints. In essence, a pragmatic approach implies a knowledge of all the other approaches, and a consciousness of their strengths and weaknesses.

The strength of a pragmatic approach lies in its sensitivity to the limitations of all methods of inquiry. It <u>ought</u> to result in superior syntheses because of this consciousness of methodology. The weakness, however, may lie in the tendency to keep expanding the inquiry into an ever-receding succession of methodological discussions.

As was indicated at the beginning of this section, none of the documentation so far reviewed displays the explicit recognition of alternative methods and outlooks that should characterize a pragmatic modeling approach. Whether such an approach would be fruitful cannot be judged.

PSYCHOLOGICAL ORIENTATION

The psychological orientation of the authors of target acquisition models, like their philosophical orientation, must largely be estimated from the products. Possible alternative orientations, not represented in existing models, are largely the result of the author's ruminations over a period of years.

The title of this section — Psychological Orientation — is misleading insofar as it implies that a treatment in terms of theories of psychology is intended. Actually, all that is intended is a brief description of possible alternative ways of viewing the task of the observer in visual search. No attempt will be made to relate these alternatives to psychological theory.

Observer as Optical Detector

Beginning with the OEG air/sea search formulation, most of the acquisition models have viewed the observer as an optical device, characterized by a slewable detector with known sensitivity/angle characteristics. The device is slewed over the search field, either randomly or systematically, until it detects an object. It then fixates the object until it detects a detail which permits a classification decision to be made. In some of the models, the situation is complicated by a "clutter" effect, which accounts for the need to look at and reject some nontarget objects in the search field.

Advantages of this approach to modeling are relative simplicity of input data, the existence of relevant Laboratory data for partial validation, and the objectivity of the relevant scene characteristics. Disadvantages include a lack of sensitivity to cognitive factors such

as briefing and training, and an inability to handle many classes of search objects not characterized by simple outlines, fixed dimensions, etc.

Work in progress at the British Aircraft Corporation is demonstrating an extension of the "optical detector" approach to include more complex and subtle target characteristics than heretofore.¹¹ However, the cognitive elements are still not well represented.

Observer as Decision Maker

Viewing the observer as a decision maker is not intended to imply an absence of visual detection functions in the target acquisition process. Rather, it may provide a different way of structuring the actions. None of the models so far reviewed takes significant account of the decision making process. The SRI model generates values for probabilities of mis-identification and other non-standard outcomes of the search process, but they do not emanate from a decision model.

The decision-making view of visual target acquisition is based in part on experimental work on the target decision process, done at Autonetics a decade ago. It was found that, for fixed, pre-briefed targets, the observer typically acquired the target area well before he was prepared to make an "acquired" response. The subsequent time was spent in examining the target area, comparing with pre-briefed clues, and reducing the feeling of uncertainty about target identity.

At least a part of the decision process is more cognitive than visual. The observer must compare what he sees with a rather abstract set of attributes which he expects the target to exhibit. The expected attributes may have been acquired from a briefing photo (perhaps taken from a different angle, different lighting, etc) or from maps, verbal descriptions, or from analogy with other targets. This process is not simply a visual fitting of two images. Coincidence between a visual feature and an expected target attribute serves to increase confidence in the identity of the target, and vice versa. Non-target attributes (such as relation to an external landmark) are at least as important in this process, for fixed targets, as are direct target attributes (such as color, shape).

In the case of fleeting targets, different attributes become important. It is still true, however, that the "target/non-target" decision depends in part on characteristics other than vehicle shape and size. For example, tracks on one side of a puddle increase the observer's expectation of finding a vehicle on the next segment of road, and will undoubtedly affect his response to other clues.

11 NWC TP 5536, Part 2 (see Footnote 2).

the state of the second second second second second

The construction of a model based upon a decision-chain paradigm would not be an easy task. It is not difficult to set up a flow chart showing a sequence of glimpses, each resulting in a change in level of uncertainty about target identity. But the quantitative relationships between visual perception and target decisions are not known at present. Those portions of the visual model relating to visibility of features would also have to be included, of course.

Observer as Problem Solver

The "problem solver" orientation is meant to imply an active seeking behavior on the part of the observer, instead of the rather passive random or plowed-field patterns of viewing currently assumed. Here it is assumed that the observer has pre-knowledge of targft attributes, including terrain indicators, which would be expected to give "early warning" of probable target presence. The observer would then use peripheral vision to direct his glimpses at the likely areas in the terrain. Having fixated a "candidate" area, he would then examine it until he could make a target/non-target decision; then (if non-target) saccade to the next candidate area.

Enough information now exists concerning peripheral vision to permit approximate quantitative prediction of search behavior following this paradigm.¹² A major difficulty for practical use of such a model is the necessity of describing the entire visual field in terms of presumed peripheral indicators.

An alternative approach, using more subjective ratings of "conspicuousness" of targets, is also under investigation in Great Britain.¹³

13

¹² Greening, C. P. "The Likelihood of Looking at a Target" in AGARD Conference Proceedings No. 100, NATO, June 1972

¹³ Raynor, A. J. "The Use of Kelly's Repertory Grid Technique for Assessing Subjective Estimates of Important Parameters for Target Acquisition" in AGARD Conference Proceedings No. 100, NATO, June 1972.

CLASSIFICATION OF TARGET ACQUISITION MODEL APPROACHES

DIMENSIONS

The possible alternative approaches described briefly above have come from a number of disparate sources. An attempt will be made here to cast these alternatives in the form of "dimensions," without regard for their orthogonality or congruency. Possible dimensions appear to be:

1. Analytic - - - - - Synthetic - - - - Data-based

This dimension represents the spectrum of philosophies described above.

2. Scientific - - - - - - - - - - - - Utilitarian

This dimension expresses the possible extremes of motivation of the model builder.

3. Optical/Objective - - - - - - - - Cognitive/Subjective

This dimension expresses the range of views of the function and nature of the observer.

4. Comprehensive - - - - - - - - - - Reductive

This dimension expresses the possible extremes of approach in terms of the attempt to include as much of the target acquisition process as possible, or to leave out as much as feasible.

5. Target-centered - - - - - - - - Situation-centered

This dimension expresses the range of search problems from that of looking for a raft on the ocean (no clues except the target itself) to that of looking for a target located in the center of a net of roads, rivers, or other terrain indicia (the target can be identified without even being seen).

CLUSTERING

These five "dimensions" could be viewed as describing 2² or 32 distinct classes of models (assuming independence of the five dimensions). However, there is no a priori reason for thinking that each of these classes represents a useful, or even a meaningful model. Nevertheless, it may be instructive to classify existing models to see where they cluster, insofar as this can be done from the available information. The "scientific/utilitarian" dimension will be excluded because it represents primarily an attitude on the part of the model builder, and is not generally discernible from a review of the model. A crude classification of models studied under previous

contract has been attempted, and is displayed in Fig. 1.

Although the classification is crude and subjective, it is apparent that there is a conspicuous lack of models at the "cognitive/subjective" end of the scale. Modelers have, without significant exception, modeled the observer as an optical pattern seeker, rather than as a problem solver. A somewhat less striking tendency is a concentration on target characteristics, as opposed to other scene and situation characteristics. This tendency is probably related to the previous one: <u>if</u> the observer is viewed as a "target-pattern-matcher," the non-target scene characteristics become less important.

MISSING MODELS

The rough outlines of a "missing model" can be deduced from the clustering seen above. Such a model would take account of the entire target environment, and of the observer's cognitive concept or "map" of the target and its surround. The optical properties of the target indicators would not be omitted, but incorporated as necessary.

Some work under way at the British Aircraft Corporation is leading toward the quantification of subjective target and non-target characteristics into acquisition prediction.¹⁴ No known model builder has incorporated this kind of element, together with objective optical properties, into a more general model. Briefing quality, observer training and similar non-target characteristics have also generally been omitted.

¹⁴ Raynor, A. J. See Footnote 13.



·7



Figure 1. Rough Classification of Models on Four Dimensions

POSSIBLE ALTERNATIVE APPROACHES

The models examined during the past two years have generally shared two somewhat conflicting limitations: on the one hand, they tend to be long and complex; on the other hand, they tend to omit factors known or suspected to be important in some search situations. Two approaches to overcoming these limitations suggest themselves. One is to make an all-inclusive, articulated model, such that intermittently important factors can be included or deleted as needed; the other is to admit that search and acquisition situations differ so much that a collection of distinct models is called for. Each of these approaches will be examined below.

AN ARTICULATED MODEL

A single, articulated model which can expand, contract, and change shape in response to changing requirements makes sense only if there exists some central core of the model which retains its structure throughout. If there were no such central features, the "articulated model" becomes, in actuality, a collection of different models.

The Columbus Format

Perhaps a new model might be expected to take a form similar to an early Rockwell International (then North American Aviation) model, presented by Matthews at the Columbus Division in 1967.¹⁵ The basic idea of that model is to compute a limiting acquisition performance, based on optical properties of the target, and then modify the result by an open-ended series of factors related to speed, masking, target motion, etc. Thus, the equation for probability of acquisition becomes

$$P_{acq} = P_{o} \cdot F_{1} \cdot F_{2} \cdot F_{3} \cdots$$

where P_{o} is the optically limited performance, F_{n} are the

modifiers, for factors such as search area, aircraft speed, etc. The value of P is, in turn, also made up of a base value with modi-

fiers:

$$P_{0} = f(R_{s}, R_{s0}) = f(R_{s}, R_{s0}' \cdot g, \cdot g_{2} \cdot g_{3} \cdot \cdot \cdot)$$

¹⁵ North American Aviation, Inc. "Extended Program Capabilities for Predicting the Probability of Target Acquisition" by E. P. Mathews, Columbus Division, Report NA66H-606. March 1967.

where $\boldsymbol{R}_{_{\boldsymbol{S}}}$ is present slant range to target

 R_{SO} is slant range for a "unit target acquisition" (unit area, zero attenuation, no clutter, etc) probability of l/e. R_{SO} is slant range for l/e probability when R'_{SO} is modified by "g" factors.

The strength of this paradigm lies in its extreme flexibility. New "F" and "g" factors can be invoked whenever needed, and set to unity when not relevant.

Possible weaknesses in the "core and modifier" model also exist.

First, the assumption of limiting optical performance on a target object as a central, constant term may be open to challenge. For example, in a general area reconnaissance flight, the observer is not looking for any specific, geometric object, but has a much more general set of objectives. He is looking for evidence of military activity. The "modified limiting visual range" concept may not be able to represent that situation adequately.

A second possible weakness in the "Columbus Format" lies in the method of combining the modifiers. As represented above, the "F" and "g" modifiers are assumed to combine in linear multiplicative fashion. The validity of this assumption has not, in general, been established. In fact, significant interactions among modifying conditions are common in field and simulator data. An interactive matrix of modifiers is theoretically possible, but would probably be cumbersome, and would certainly be difficult to validate.

Other Articulated Formats

Another variable format which is, so far as is known, untried, would be one as shown in Fig. 2. Here, the assumption is that all target acquisition processes can be broken down into parallel phases (e.g., search, detection, recognition) and that alternative blocks for each phase could be hooked together to make up overall models.

Such an articulated model would share certain advantages with the type previously described. It can be as flexible as necessary, since blocks can be added or replaced in any category without disturbing the remainder, if the input/output interfaces can be made to match. In addition, the separate functions can be manipulated (or validated) independently, because inputs and outputs can be monitored at each node.

Two potentially serious problems can be anticipated in the construction of an articulated model on this format. First, it is not obvious that all search/acquisition situations of interest can be represented by a parallel block structure. As an example, consider

;

;

1

-

i

Ϋ.

•

.

,





air/sea search versus pre-briefed search for a fixed target on land. In the first case, a search pattern is set up; any visual discontinuity is inspected to see whether or not it is the target. In the second case, a series of terrain features is fixated and identified, leading to an expected target area. Target acquisition can take place without actual visual contact with a target object as such.

A second potential problem has to do with the data flow through each node in the network. If a new recognition model is introduced which depends upon, for example, the texture of the target image, then some characteristics of image texture must be input to the "Recognition" block. But the existing earlier blocks may not supply such information. The necessary "fix" may, in essence, involve the construction of an entire new chain of submodel blocks.

A COLLECTION OF MODELS

Articulated, multi-purpose models, as considered above, appear to have certain rather severe shortcomings. The question must be raised as to whether a collection of different models (as now exists) may be a better solution to the problem. The search and acquisition processes in sea search, LOC patrol, and area reconnaissance may be so different as to justify a separate (and hopefully simple) model for each.

The comments in earlier sections, relative to terrain characteristics, briefing materials, etc., are really most germane to search for a specific, fixed target in a known location. A purely optical model, with a visual lobe moving in a systematic pattern, is perhaps adequate for sea search. A "push broom" model with a narrow, systematic search pattern directed toward compact targets (vehicles) would be appropriate to line of communication patrol.

Possibly the most difficult situation to model, starting from the present state of affairs, is the general search of an area for any object or activity of military interest. No existing model approaches the representation of an observer with a general sensitivity of unusual amounts of traffic, glints from machinery, dusty foliage along trails, drying laundry, cut trees, and the whole gamut of indicators reported by experienced aerial observers. This observation brings the question of "Alternative Approaches" back to the original question implied in the contract work statement - namely, how to provide for the more subjective, cognitive elements of some search/acquisition tasks.

A Model Format for Area Search

As mentioned above, the kind of search situation which seems to be least well represented by most existing models is one in which an observer is searching an area for a variety of things, at least some of which will not be expected. Such a search task is characterized by multiple "targets," targets found by indirect indicators, screened or camouflaged targets, and generally myriads of confusing objects.

20

Observer responses must include, in addition to "detection" and "recognition," some indication of degree of relevance of a particular object to one or more target classes, some way of accommodating mis-recognition, non-detection, and confusion among target classes. Also, the likelihood of these and other response categories should be sensitive to briefing type and recency, familiarity with terrain, etc.

One existing model which has some of the required characteristics is the CRESS/SCREEN series.¹⁶ Among other features, the model permits the specification of as many as 750 objects in 40 groups, and computes probabilities of mis-recognition and mis-identification as well as the more usual quantities.

A fundamental decision which must be made early in the formulation of a model has to do with search. Three basic approaches are possible:

- (1) Search is systematic and, hence, predictable in detail (the VISTRAC model makes such an assumption). For each search glimpse, the detectability of any object in the visual field can be computed.
- (2) Search is random and, hence, predictable only statistically (several models assume random search). The likelihood of detecting any object is, then, dependent upon chance as well as upon its optical properties.
- (3) Search behavior depends upon the objects in the search field, and thus is predictable, given an adequately detailed description of the entire visual field. Here, the likelihood of detecting a target (or non-target) object depends upon its optical properties and the observer's expectations.

The selection of one of the above search philosophies will dictate the form of the term which computes likelihood of fixating any particular object within the field. The value of the likelihood of fixation will depend upon the perceived optical properties of each object, and its resemblance to one or more of the target indicators being sought.

For each object fixated, a complex set of possible decisions can be visualized. A beginning at such a decision matrix occurs in CRESS-SCREEN. For example, the following expression is used to compute probability of mis-recognition:¹⁷

¹⁶ NWC TP 5536. See Footnote 1

¹⁷ NWC TP 5536, p. 38. See Footnote 1.

$$P_{MR} = (\mu P_{MRA}) P_{R} (1 - P_{R})$$

where ${\rm P}_{MRA}$ is judged average probability of mis-recognition ${\rm P}_{\rm R}$ is computed probability of recognition

A far more complex decision set can be constructed as illustrated in Fig. 3. Here twenty-five possible combinations of "actual status" and "perceived status" of a fixated visual stimulus are represented. The likelihoods associated with each cell will be a function of briefing, of the size and composition of the sets of target and non-target objects in the field. The problem of determining likelihoods for each of 25 cells for each of several hundred visual features is challenging, and may be totally impractical. However, it appears to be the direction in which model development should move if the general, area search situation is to be represented adequately.

To represent an entire search mission, the kind of decision set just described must be evaluated for each fixation; the likelihoods for various outcomes on later fixations will then be contingent upon the outcomes of earlier fixations. Some scheme must be developed to prevent the infinite expansion of the alternative sets of outcomes. The scheme would probably take the form of a statistical treatment applicable to an ensemble of glimpses, dropping out the detailed evaluation of each cell for each possible glimpse location.



معادد ومرجع وأستراع وأحمالهما فالملام فتوصيكم لأورائهم

Figure 3. Possible Target Decision Matrix (Assume that a "Feature" is Fixated on the Nth Glimpse)

A SALAN

A the shirt of the second

1

and the second secon

「「「「「「」」」「「」」「「」」」

CONCLUSIONS

The gross conclusion which emerges from the considerations reviewed in this report is that the optimal form for a target acquisition model is so dependent upon (1) the objectives of the user, (2) the class of situation being modeled, and, less fundamentally, (3) the intellectual orientation of the model builder, that there is little chance of a reduction to one or two "super-models" to meet all requirements.

Acceptance of the initial conclusion does not, however, imply that the present-day proliferation of models is optimal. In fact, certain classes of potentially useful models appear to have been neglected; other categories are almost certainly over-populated.

Table 2 is an attempt to fit known models to probably important requirements. The divisions are coarse, but serve to illustrate the apparent imbalance of model development to date. Insofar as this crude analysis is correct, it would imply that the following alternative approaches to visual target acquisition need to be pursued:

- 1. Simpler models for operational use for all classes of missions (generally similar to existing $RAND^{18}$ and $MINIMAL^{19}$ models).
- 2. Simple, multiplicative modifiers to existing models, to incorporate cognitive/subjective factors, for parametric study of simple search situations.
- 3. A new, probably complex, approach to modeling the multi-objective, area search situation, for parametric studies.

¹⁸ The RAND Corp. "Target Detection Through Visual Recognition: A Quantitative Model" by H. H. Bailey. Rand Memorandum RM-6158/1-PR, February 1970.

¹⁹ Naval Weapons Center. "A Simplified Air-to-Ground Target Acquisition Model" by C. P. Greening, Autonetics Division, Rockwell International. China Lake, Calif., NWC, August 1974. (NWC TP 5680.)

Table 2. Classes of Models - Existing, Modified and New

| | MOST RELEVANT | |
|------------------|--|---|
| Mission | Existing Models | Necessary Changes |
| | RAND (Bailey) TAWG "Minimal" (Greening) | Validation Validation & extension |
| con. | None | New, simple |
| rch bjective) | None | New, hopefully simple |
| | MARSAM II; VISTARAQ; etc. | Add cognitive/subjective multipliers |
| oute Recon | VISTARAQ | Little or none |
| rch bjective) | SRI CRESS/SCREEN | Extension & validation of decision matrix; add cog- nitive/subjective elements or new approach. |
| | n. th lective) the Recon th ective) | n. None h iective) None MARSAM II; VISTARAQ; etc. te Recon VISTARAQ in SRI CRESS/SCREEN |

NWC TP 5698

25

INITIAL DISTRIBUTION

32 Naval Air Systems Command AIR-04 (1) AIR-104 (1) AIR-30212 (2) AIR-304F (1) AIR-360B (1) AIR-410 (1) AIR-50174 (2) AIR-510 (1) AIR-5102 (1) AIR-5103 (1) AIR-5105 (1) AIR-5108 (1) AIR-5108B (1) AIR-5109 (1) AIR-5313 (5) AIR-532 (1) AIR-5321 (1) AIR-5322 (1) AIR-5323 (1) AIR-533 (1) AIR-533B1 (1) AIR-533F3 (1) AIR-5332 (1) AIR-5333 (1) AIR-5333E2 (1) AIR-535 (1) 3 Chief of Naval Operations OP-098 (1) OP-0982 (1) OP-55 (1) 1 Chief of Naval Material (MAT-03T, Knute Takle) 3 Naval Sea Systems Command SEA-03 (1) SEA-09G32 (2) 2 Chief of Naval Research, Arlington ONR-455 (1) ONR-461 (1) 1 Bureau of Medicine & Surgery (Code 513) 1 Commandant of the Marine Corps (LTCOL Robert L. Peterson) 1 Air Test & Evaluation Squadron 4 1 Air Test & Evaluation Squadron 5 1 Naval Aerospace Medical Research Laboratory (Code L5)

4 Naval Air Development Center, Johnsville Code 402 (1) Code LSE (1) Code LSE-2 (1) Technical Library (1) 1 Naval Air Force, Atlantic Fleet 1 Naval Air Force, Pacific Fleet 1 Naval Air Test Center, Patuxent River (ST-3531) 1 Naval Ammunition Depot, Crane (Code 502 C. L., R&D Laboratory) 1 Naval Avionics Facility, Indianapolis (Technical Library) 1 Naval Electronics Laboratory Center, San Diego (Code 5330) 4 Naval Missile Center, Point Mugu Code 5342 A. Bittner (1) R. Bruns (1) R. Kennedy (1) Technical Library (1) 1 Naval Ordnance Laboratory, White Oak (Technical Library) 1 Naval Postgraduate School, Monterey (Dr. James Arima) 2 Naval Research Laboratory 1 Naval Ship Research and Development Center, Bethesda (Code 721, J. C. Slone) 1 Naval Submarine Medical Center, Naval Submarine Base, New London 1 Naval Training Equipment Center, Orlando (Code 215, LCDR Funaro) 2 Naval Weapons Laboratory, Dahlgren Code GA, Fred Clodius (1) Technical Library (1) 1 Office of Naval Research Branch Office, Pasadena (R. Lawson) 1 Operational Test and Evaluation Force 1 Office Chief of Research and Development (LTCOL Cianciola) 1 Army Armament Command, Rock Island (AMSAR-SAA) 1 Army Combat Developments Command, Fort Belvoir (CDC-MS-U) 1 Army Combat Developments Command, Armor Agency, Fort Knox (David Funk) 1 Army Combat Developments Command, Aviation Agency, Fort Rucker 1 Army Combat Developments Command, Experimentation Command, Fort Ord (DCS Programs & Projects Analysis, Methodology Division, Jerry J. Campbell) 1 Army Combat Develops Command, Field Artillery Agency, Fort Sill (MAJ Lowe) 1 Army Materiel Command (Robert Carey) 1 Army Missile Command, Redstone Arsenal (AMSMI-RLH, Gerald Chaikin) 1 Army Training & Doctrine Command, Fort Monroe (LTCOL Frankes) 1 Army Aeromedical Research Laboratory, Fort Rucker (Dr. Robert Wright) 1 Army Ballistics Research Laboratories, Aberdeen Proving Ground 2 Army Human Engineering Laboratory, Aberdeen Proving Ground 27 Army Materiel Systems Analysis Agency, Aberdeen Proving Ground AMSXY-D, Dr. Joseph Sperrazza (1) AMSXY-R, AREND Reid (5) AMSXY-S, John W. Kramer (20) Technical Library (1)

3 Army Mobility Equipment Research and Development Center, Fort Belvoir SMEFB-MB, Albert J. Perri (1) STSFB-DQ, Bruce Bucklin (1) Technical Documents Center (1) 1 Army Research Institute, Arlington (Dr. A. H. Birnbaum) 1 Fort Huachuca Headquarters, Fort Huachuca (Technical Library) 2 Frankford Arsenal SMUFA-N0100, Gordon Sigmund (1) SPRFA-FCW-W, Henry Zandberg (1) 5 Picatinny Arsenal AMPCM-RK (1) SMUPA-AD-C (1)S. K. Einbinder (1) G. M. Gaydos (1) SMUPA-FRL-P, Robert B. Davis (1) 2 Night Vision Laboratory, Fort Belvoir AMSEL-NVVI (1) Systems Analysis Team, Douglas Dunlap (1) 4 Project MASSTER, West Fort Hood LTCOL O'Grady (2) Director, Air Combat Directorate (2) 1 101st Aviation Group, CBT, Fort Campbell 1 White Sands Missile Range (STEWS-AD-L) 1 Air Force Systems Command, Andrews Air Force Base (SDW, Rodger Hartmeyer) 1 Tactical Air Command, Langley Air Force Base 1 Oklahoma City Air Materiel Area, Tinker Air Force Base (W. P. Wilcox) 10 Air Force Armament Laboratory, Eglin Air Force Base DLIP, John Macon (1) DLYD, Jerry Collier (4) DLYW, LTC Whatley (4) 3246-TW-TGWN, CAPT Michael L. Valentine (1) 10 Air Force Test & Evaluation Center, Kirtland Air Force Base (SEEKVAL-JTF) 1 Air University Library, Maxwell Air Force Base (AUL-6238) 10 6570th Aerospace Medical Research Laboratory, Wright-Patterson Air Force Base AFSC-ASD (RWS) (1) AMRL-HEO, MAJ R. Hilgendorf (5) AMRL-HER (1) ASD-XRHA (1) MMWM, Eugene Swanson (1) 1 Tactical Fighter Weapons Center, Nellis Air Force Base (DR) 12 Defense Documentation Center 1 Director of Defense Research & Engineering (TST&E, Richard R. Ledesma) 1 Defense Intelligence Agency (D17E, Raymond Sauer) 1 Langley Research Center (Technical Library) 1 Anacapa Sciences Inc., Santa Barbara, Calif. 1 Applied Physics Laboratory, JHU, Silver Spring, Md. (Dr. Jack Gebhard) 1 Autonetics/Rockwell International, Anaheim, Calif. (Dr. Charles P. Greening) 1 Calspan Corporation, Buffalo, N. Y. (Life Sciences Avionics Department)

- 1 Hughes Aircraft Company, Culver City, Calif. (Design Systems Laboratory Aerospace Group, Walter Carel)
- 1 Human Factors Research, Inc., Goleta, Calif.
- 2 Institute for Defense Analysis, Arlington, Va. Robert E. L. Johnson (1) Technical Library (1)
- 1 Ling-Temco-Vought Aeronautics Corp. Dallas, Tex. (Human Factors Engineering)
- 1 McDonnell-Douglas Corporation, Long Beach, Calif. (Director of Scientific Research, R&D Aircraft Division)
- 1 McDonnell-Douglas Corporation, St. Louis, Mo. (Engineering Psychology, Dr. Edward Jones)
- 1 Martin-Marietta Corporation, Orlando, Fla. (Human Factors Engineering, Systems Engineering Department, Dr. Daniel Jones)
- 1 Montana State University, Bozeman, Mont. (Psychology Department, Dr. William Bliss)
- 1 Rockwell International Corp. Columbus, Ohio (Human Factors Engineering Missile Systems Division)
- 1 Systems and Research Center, Minneapolis, Minn. (Research Department, Dr. Leon G. Williams)
- 1 The Boeing Company, Seattle, Wash. (Attack Subsystem Technology Research & Engineering Division, James D. Gilmour)
- 1 University of California San Diego, San Diego, Calif. (Scripps Visibility Laboratory)
- 1 Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University, Blacksburg, Va. (Department of Industrial Engineering and Ops Research, Dr. Harry L. Snyder)